THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2009-CP-07-6054  
Appellate Case No. 2013-001407

---

RECEIVED  
DEC 30 2013  
SC COURT OF APPEALS

Cynthia Griffis,		Plaintiff,
	v.	
Cherry Hill Estates, LLC, Eugene O'Neil and and Ronald Faulkner,		Defendants,
		Appellants.
Of whom Cherry Hill Estates, LLC and Ronald Faulkner are		
Cherry Hill Estates, LLC and Ronald Faulkner,		Third Party Plaintiffs,
	v.	
Anthony E. Griffis,		Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

---

Michael W. Mogil  
Mogil Law Firm  
2 Corpus Christie Place, Ste. 303

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT AN EXPERT AFFIDAVIT WAS NECESSARY TO SUPPORT APPELLANTS' CLAIMS FOR NEGLIGENCE AND BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WAS TRIGGERED ON THE CLOSING DATE, AS OPPOSED TO A LATER DISCOVERY DATE?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO APPLY THE RELATION-BACK DOCTRINE, AND IN DETERMINING THAT THE APPELLANTS' AMENDED COMPLAINT AND EXPERT AFFIDAVIT WERE TIME-BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FOLLOW THE "LAW OF THE CASE"?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DISALLOWING THE APPLICATION OF EQUITABLE TOLLING?
6. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APPELLANTS' CLAIM FOR BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants filed their Third Party Complaint in this matter asserting the subject professional negligence claims, and other causes of action, against their former attorney, Anthony E. Griffis, on or about June 20, 2010. (R. pp. 111-117). The issues before the Court were first raised in Respondent's Motion to Dismiss filed on or about September 20, 2010. (R. pp. 98-99). That motion was argued on October 14, 2010 and an Order granting the Motion was entered on October 27, 2010. (R. pp. 10-11). That Order granted Appellants thirty days, or until November 14, 2010, to serve an Amended Third Party Complaint to include the supporting affidavit of an expert. *Id.* Appellants timely served their Amended

Third Party Complaint with a supporting affidavit on November 14, 2010. (R. pp. 84-97).

Respondent filed his second Motion to Dismiss and for Summary Judgment on December 28, 2010. (R. pp. 79-80). The Motion was argued on or about March 28, 2011 before the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes III, with a supplemental hearing by telephone on May 5, 2011. Thereafter Judge Dukes instructed Appellants' counsel to prepare an Order denying summary judgment on the subject negligence claim(s). Said Order was prepared and tendered to the Court, but not entered.<sup>1</sup>

After counsel for the Appellants became aware that the Order denying summary judgment had not been formally entered, counsel contacted the Court and a supplemental status conference was held, which resulted in Judge Dukes entering an Order denying Respondent's Motion to Dismiss and for Summary judgment on or about August 6, 2012. (R. pp. 8-9).

On August 12, 2012 Respondent filed a Motion to Reconsider the Court's Order of August 6, 2012. (R. pp. 35-40). The parties argued the Motion to Reconsider before Judge Dukes on October 15, 2012. On March 5, 2013 Judge Dukes entered an Order granting Respondent's Motion to Reconsider and entering summary judgment for Respondent on the negligence causes of action, based on the statute of limitations. (R. pp. 5-7).

On March 18, 2013 Appellants filed their Motion to Reconsider the Order granting summary judgment on the negligence claim(s). (R. pp. 27-34). The parties argued the Motion

---

<sup>1</sup> On or about March 21, 2011 the parties herein and Cynthia Griffis agreed to a Consent Order Bifurcating the first party action brought by Ms. Griffis, in part to accommodate Mr. Hale's schedule due to his health. Ms. Griffis' first party case against the Appellant(s) herein was tried on May 25 and May 26, 2011 and ultimately, a Consent Order resulted in the entry of a judgment by settlement on January 20, 2012, the entry of judgment itself being delayed by Mr Hale's declining health and subsequent passing.

to Reconsider before Judge Dukes on April 18, 2013. On May 16, 2013 Judge Dukes entered his Order denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider, and the within Appeal followed. (R. pp. 3-4). Appellants seek damages in excess of One Million Dollars, the exact amount of which to be determined at trial.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In or around January, 2007, attorney Anthony E. Griffis and his estranged wife and paralegal assistant, Cynthia Griffis, began discussions with Mr. Griffis' client, Eugene O'Neil, to sell the Griffis' former marital residence and surrounding property, being twenty-seven (27) acres in Okatie, South Carolina, to a new entity. The twenty-seven (27) acre tract will be referred to hereafter as the "Cherry Hill Estates" property. The sale was structured to both generate proceeds sufficient to settle the Griffis' divorce and associated property settlement matters, and to pay off a SunTrust note and mortgage secured by the Cherry Hill Estates property, which note was in default by early 2007. (R. pp. 201-202). In mid 2007, Mr. Griffis and/or Mr. O'Neil solicited Ronald T. Faulkner, a resident of Maryland, to involve in the proposed transaction. Faulkner was also at that time a client of Mr. Griffis, inasmuch as Mr. Griffis acted as settlement agent for several real estate transactions in which Mr. Faulkner was a principal including the purchase of Faulkner's residence on Hilton Head Island in 2007. Faulkner was also a close social friend and historical business associate of Mr. O'Neil—they were involved together in at least one other South Carolina real estate venture together known as Buckingham Development, LLC, for which Mr. Griffis served as corporate and tax counsel. Faulkner was specifically solicited by Griffis and O'Neil for his

perceived financial strength—it was believed and determined a more credit-worthy guarantor was required to achieve a purchase money mortgage loan in an amount sufficient to generate proceeds at closing to meet Griffis and O’Neil’s intended purpose for the transaction. (R. p. A2, lines 3-21). It is not clear from the facts developed thus far in the case when, exactly, Faulkner agreed to participate in the Cherry Hill Estates project, but discovery and testimony in the first party action herein and in a related third party action, Bank of the Ozarks v. Cherry Hill Estates, LLC et al, C/A No. 2010-CP-07-0637, reflect that Faulkner’s financial information was in fact provided to Woodlands bank in connection with the Cherry Hill Estates project and loan, by persons and means not completely certain.

Ultimately, a sales contract entitled Contract for Real Estate was drafted by Mr. Griffis and executed by Mr. Griffis and Mr. O’Neil on or about August 30, 2007. (R. p. 197). The contract conveyed the Cherry Hill Estates property to Cherry Hill Estates, LLC, a limited liability company formed by Mr. Griffis, for a stated purchase price of One Million and Thirteen Thousand (\$1,000,013.00) Dollars. *Id.* The Contract for Real Estate was presented to Woodlands Bank in connection with a request for a purchase money first mortgage in the amount of Eight Hundred Fifty Thousand (\$850,000.00) Dollars. Neither the Contract for Real Estate, nor any other document subsequently presented to Woodlands Bank, suggested or stated that Mr. Griffis was intended to be a member in Cherry Hill Estates, LLC or that Mr. O’Neil or Cherry Hill Estates, LLC would receive a portion of the contemplated sales proceeds. The Contract for Real Estate, and all prior contracts, were executed by Mr. O’Neil on behalf of Cherry Hill Estates, LLC without the benefit of separate representation.

During the five weeks subsequent to the tender of the Contract for Sale, Mr. Griffis,

Mr. O'Neill, Ms. Griffis and Mr. Faulkner engaged in a number of discussions and meetings in person or by phone which resulted in Mr. Griffis drafting an "Agreement Regarding Cherry Hill Estates," dated September 13, 2007 (the "September Agreement," R. p. 211), and a subsequent document, the "Agreement Regarding Cherry Hill Estates" dated October 8, 2007 (the "October Agreement," R. p. 209), which was the day before the intended closing date for the Cherry Hill Estates transaction. The October Agreement added a provision whereby Mr. O'Neil and Mr. Faulkner would personally guarantee a second mortgage loan to Ms. Griffis. (R. p. 209, lines 7-13). Mr. Griffis and Ms. Griffis have testified that this provision reflects their intent and agreement at the time. Mr. O'Neil and Mr. Faulkner have testified that it was not their intent or agreement to personally guarantee a second mortgage to Ms. Griffis, and that their attorney added that provision without explaining it to them. The October Agreement also added the following provisions:

"3. The additional excess closing proceeds (from buyers' loan) shall be reinvested for development purposes in Cherry Hill Estates, LLC , a SC limited liability company whose members are Ron Faulkner and Eugene O'Neil. Anthony E. Griffis shall receive a 1/3<sup>rd</sup> interest in Cherry Hill Estates, LLC, for his investment. \$150,000 paid directly by Anthony E. Griffis (handwritten amendment).

"4. \$119,000 of the excess loan proceeds shall be escrowed and used for interest payments on Buyer's loan. Anthony E. Griffis shall be entitled to the tax deduction related to said business interest."

(R. p. 209, lines 17-25).

On some date prior to closing, Mr. O'Neil was referred to John P. Qualey, Esq. to be retained as settlement agent for the contemplated transaction. The file and record in this case reflect that Mr. Faulkner did visit Mr. Qualey's office on one occasion and executed a Power of Attorney drafted by Mr. Qualey which gave Mr. Qualey authority to execute necessary

documents in connection with the Cherry Hill Estates transaction. Neither Woodlands Bank's files, Mr. Qualey's files, nor any other documents or testimony generated in the first party action, this action, nor the related foreclosure action described below, reflect that the October Agreement was provided to the Woodland Bank or to Mr. Qualey. Thus, the transaction proceeded without the lender or settlement agent having knowledge that (a) Mr. Griffis, the seller, was intended to own an interest in the purchasing entity, or (b) that the purchasing entity and/or Mr. O'Neil and/or Mr. Faulkner would be receiving sales proceeds at closing, funded entirely by the purchase money mortgage loan, as the purchaser was not investing any funds at closing.

On October 10, 2007, the transaction closed with Mr. Qualey acting as the settlement agent. The property was purchased by Cherry Hill Estates, LLC for the sum of \$1,000,013 and financed by a loan from Woodlands Bank in amount of \$850,000 and a second mortgage note given to Cynthia Griffis in amount of \$200,000. (R. pp. 213-214). The second mortgage note term expired in 2009. The transaction, as structured by Mr. Griffis, required Mr. O'Neil and Mr. Faulkner, through his Power of Attorney, Mr. Qualey, to give personal guarantees for both promissory notes. Although Mr. Griffis structured the transaction to grant himself a one-third ownership interest in Cherry Hill Estates, LLC, Mr. Griffis did not personally guarantee either purchase money note. Both Mr. Faulkner and Mr. O'Neil testified at deposition that they did not understand that they were being asked to personally guarantee Ms. Griffis' second mortgage note, but rather that they thought Ms. Griffis would be paid if and when the land was sold or developed. (Faulkner Deposition, R. pp. 177-183, 186-189, A6-A7; O'Neil Deposition, R. pp. 155-156, 164-167). Mr. Faulkner, Mr. O'Neil and Cherry

Hill Estates, LLC were not represented by separate counsel during the negotiation phase of the transaction, or prior to or during the event when they executed a number of sales contracts and separate side agreements, in Mr. Griffis' office. Mr. Griffis did not issue any written instruction to either Mr. Faulkner or Mr. O'Neil that they should retain separate advice of counsel prior to entering into the Contract for Sale or the Agreement(s) Regarding Cherry Hill Estates.

On October 10, 2007, after the closing, Mr. O'Neil executed in Mr. Griffis' law office a document entitled "Bill of Sale," which was prepared by Mr. Griffis and which conveyed a one-third interest in Cherry Hill Estates, LLC to Mr. Griffis. (R.p. 215). At the same meeting, Mr. Griffis tendered a check from Mr. Griffis to "Eugene O'Neill, for Cherry Hill Estates, LLC" in the amount of Three Hundred Twenty Thousand (\$320,000) Dollars.

In December, 2009 Cynthia Griffis filed the first-party action against Cherry Hill Estates, LLC, Ronald Faulkner and Eugene O'Neil, alleging breach of contract and seeking collection of \$200,000 allegedly owed under the second mortgage promissory note, plus interest and fees. Appellants filed a Motion for Leave to Amend their Answer and to Assert Third Party Complaint against Mr. Griffis on May 25, 2010, and said Motion was granted on June 18, 2010. Cherry Hill Estates, LLC and Mr. Faulkner served the Third Party Complaint on June 22, 2010. (R. pp. 111-117). The Third Party Complaint alleged, *inter alia*, causes of action for breach of fiduciary duty, professional negligence and indemnification against Mr. Griffis, claiming that he failed to properly refer his clients to separate counsel prior to engaging in personal business transactions with them, and that he unfairly took advantage of his clients to his benefit and their detriment.

In or around December, 2009, the Woodlands note went into default. The successor in interest to Woodlands, Bank of the Ozarks, initiated a foreclosure action in case 2010-CP-27-0637, Bank of the Ozarks v. Cherry Hill Estates, LLC, et al., which resulted in the foreclosure and sale of the subject property on April 2, 2012, and ultimately in a deficiency judgment against Cherry Hill Estates, LLC, Mr. Faulkner and Mr. O'Neil in amount of Nine Hundred and One Thousand Thirteen and 44/100 (\$901,013.44) Dollars. Thus the property that the Respondent sold to the Appellants for more than one million dollars (\$1,013,000) in 2007 was resold for One Hundred Fifty Seven Thousand Two Hundred and Fifty (\$157,250.00) Dollars in April, 2012.

#### ARGUMENT

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). "Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law." Id. In determining whether a genuine issue of fact exists, the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from it must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C., 354 S.C. 397, 404, 581 S.E.2d 161, 165 (2003). "Once the moving party carries its initial burden, the opposing party must come forward with specific facts that show there is a genuine issue of fact remaining for trial." Sides v. Greenville Hosp. Sys., 362 S.C. 250, 255, 607 S.E.2d 362, 364 (Ct. App. 2004).

A. An Expert Affidavit May Not Have Been Necessary to Support the Negligence and Breach of Duty Claims asserted.

The trial court granted summary judgment based on S.C. Code of Laws, Section 15-36-100, which generally requires that claims sounding in professional negligence be supported by the contemporaneous filing of an affidavit by an expert. At the outset, Appellants note that Section 15-36-100(C)(2) eliminates the contemporaneous filing requirement where “the subject matter lies within the ambit of common knowledge and experience, such that no special learning is needed to evaluate the conduct of the defendant.” The Amended Third Party Complaint herein alleged facts which violate generally understood rules requiring professionals to disclose conflicts of interest to their clients, and also alleges that Mr. Griffis advised Appellants to enter into a transaction involving a refund or “kickback” of seller proceeds to the purchaser entity without disclosure of that event to the lender or settlement agent. Appellants assert that if these refunds of sales proceeds were disclosed to the lender prior to closing or at closing, then the lender would have canceled the transaction. Mr. Griffis structured and drafted the agreement(s) that resulted in these events and had the parties execute those agreement(s) in his office, unbeknownst to the settlement agent or to the bank. Thus, the Amended Third Party Complaint alleges errors within the ambit of common knowledge and experience, such that no professional affidavit was needed to support the claims of breach of duty of care or breach of fiduciary duty. Clearly, the law does not contemplate that an expert opinion be required to support a claim against one’s lawyer for structuring and participating in a transaction that would not close if it was properly and fully disclosed to the purchase money mortgage lender, in addition to the other one-sided

aspects of the transaction as set forth above.

B. The Discovery Rule Extended the Applicable Limitations Period in this Case.

The trial court ultimately determined in its Order granting summary judgment that an expert affidavit was in fact required by Section 15-36-100 and that the Amended Third Party Complaint with supporting expert affidavit was time-barred by approximately thirty-four days, because those documents were served and filed three years and thirty-four days after the closing of the subject transaction. Appellants dispute that the trial court properly applied the law regarding limitations of actions. Specifically, South Carolina follows the discovery rule, which states that the statute of limitations begins to run when a person could or should have known, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, that a cause of action might exist. In Abba Equipment, Inc. v. Thomason, 517 S.E.2d 235, 335 S.C. 477 (S.C.App. 1999) (citing Mills v. Killian, 254 S.E.2d 556, 273 S.C. 66 (S.C. 1979)) our Court of Appeal held that the “discovery rule” specifically applied to causes of action under a theory of professional negligence.

i. Appellants did not discover facts underlying cause of action until January, 2010

The discovery rule triggers the statute of limitations in this case on or after January 11, 2010, when Mr. Faulkner was served with the lawsuit by Cynthia Griffis which demanded recovery on the \$200,000 second mortgage promissory note. The Amended Third Party Complaint, accompanied by Mr. Pendarvis’ affidavit, was served less than eleven months after that discovery. In actuality, Respondents learned of the lawsuit and its underlying claims after it was filed in December, 2010, but the distinction between December 2010 and January, 2011 is not material for the discovery rule analysis herein.

Despite Respondent's testimony regarding when it/he actually learned about the guarantees on the second mortgage and note, the trial court found that the statute of limitations began to run on the date of closing, being October 10, 2007, when Eugene O'Neil executed settlement and closing documents on behalf of Cherry Hill Estates, LLC and himself, and John P. (Jack) Qualey executed loan guarantees for Mr. Faulkner through his Power of Attorney. However, the fact record developed in this case, as well as the associated first party action, reflected that as of October 2007, Mr. Faulkner did not know of the events that formed the basis for the Appellants' causes of action for professional negligence. As of the closing date, Mr. Faulkner did not know that he was being bound to guarantee a second loan to Ms. Griffis. (R. pp. 177, lines 16-24; pp. 195-196). Mr. Faulkner did not know that Mr. Griffis would obtain an ownership interest in Cherry Hill Estates without a corresponding requirement that he guarantee the loan(s) taken to enable the transaction. (R. p. 188). Finally, as of the closing date, Mr. Faulkner was unaware that structure of the transaction, which involved the refund of Seller proceeds at closing to the purchaser entities, and third parties, without disclosure to the first mortgage lender, rendered the transaction in contravention of existing lending and legal protocols. The statute of limitations for the third party negligence claims therefore could not have triggered until Mr. Faulkner and/or the entity discovered these matters, in December, 2009 or in January, 2010.

ii. Mr. Qualey had no relevant knowledge to impute on Appellants

The trial court further erred in finding that Mr. Qualey's knowledge of the closing and the documents and obligations therein were imputed to Mr. Faulkner. Mr. Qualey's deposition testimony reflected the following:

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