THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
*Court of Appeals*

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court Of Common Pleas

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III

---

Trial Court Case No. 2009-CP-07-06054  
Appellate Case No. 2013-001407

---

Cynthia Griffis, Plaintiff,

v.

Cherry Hill Estates, LLC, Eugene O'Neil, and Ronald Faulkner,  
Defendants,

Of Whom Cherry Hill Estates, LLC. and Ronald Faulkner are .....Appellants.

Cherry Hill Estates, LLC and Ronald Faulkner, Third Party Plaintiffs,

v.

Anthony E. Griffis, .....Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Anthony E. Griffis  
355 Park Ave SW  
Aiken, SC 29081  
(843) 368-5013  
Pro Se

**RECEIVED**

JAN 14 2014

**SC Court of Appeals**

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

statute of limitations expired on October 9, 2010, and Third-Party Plaintiff did not obtain the expert affidavit until after November 11, 2010 (see date of expert affidavit, R. p. 97). Therefore, Third-Party Plaintiff's First, Second, and Third Causes of Action must be dismissed pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §15-36-100(F)<sup>9</sup>.

**III. There are no exceptions for Appellants to file an expert affidavit obtained after expiration of the statute of limitations.**

A. No Statutory Exceptions:

S. C. Ann. § 15-36-100(F) provides, in pertinent part:

[I]f a plaintiff fails to file an affidavit as required by this section, and the defendant raises the failure to file an affidavit by motion to dismiss filed contemporaneously with its initial responsive pleading, ***the complaint is not subject to renewal after the expiration of the applicable period of limitation*** unless a court determines that the plaintiff ***had*** the requisite affidavit within the time pursuant to this section..." **(emphasis added)**

There are no exceptions under S.C. Code Ann. §15-36-100 available to Appellants for the late filing of the expert affidavit outside the limitations period:

(a) §15-36-100(C) does not apply because the Plaintiff did not allege in his original Complaint (filed June 23, 2010), (Complaint, R. pp.111-117), that the required affidavit could not be acquired before expiration of the period of limitations.

(b) §15-36-100(D) does not apply because it refers to the late filing exception contained in §15-36-100(C) and does not over-ride the mandatory filing requirement of §15-36-100(B) and the mandatory requirements of §15-36-100(F).

Statutory interpretation is a question of law. *City of Newberry v. Newberry Elec. Co-op, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 254, 256, 692 S.E.2d 510, 512 (2010). The primary rule of statutory

---

<sup>9</sup> Even the hearing on October 14, 2010, and the resulting Order dated October 26, 2010 (R. pp.10-11) are outside the period of limitations which expired on or before October 10, 2010. The Court cannot extend an expired period of limitations.

construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. *Ranucci v. Crain*, 723 S.E.2d 242, 244 (S.C. App. 2012); *Mid-State Auto Auction of Lexington, Inc. v. Altman*, 324 S.C. 65, 69, 476 S.E.2d 690, 692 (1996). Unless there is something in the statute requiring a different interpretation, the words used in a statute must be given their ordinary meaning. *Id.* When a statute's terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning. *Sloan v. Hardee*, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007).

In *Ranucci*, this Court held that the expert affidavit filed pursuant to section 15-36-100 is "part of the complaint" and is a pleading for the purpose of the circuit court's evaluation of motions and the merits of the plaintiff's case for granting summary judgment under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *Rannuci, supra*, at p. 247. The *Rannuci* concurring opinion states "To the majority's analysis, I would add that section 15-36-100 does not ever toll the statute of limitations", citing section 15-36-100(D) which specifically provides "[t]his section does not extend an applicable period of limitations." *Ranucci, supra*, at p. 248.

Therefore, the "relation back" doctrine of Rule 15(c), SCRPC, does not apply to S.C. Code §15-36-100(F) - which clearly states that, if a complaint is filed without the required affidavit, it "is not subject to renewal after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations..."

B. No Equitable Exceptions:

1. As acknowledged in the Order dated August 3, 2012, "there was certainly no deception or allegations of deception by the Defendant". (Order dated August 3, 2012, R. p. 9)
2. The sole basis for the lower court in invoking equitable tolling, in its Order of

August 3, 2012 (R. p. 9) is that the Order itself “misleads the Plaintiff on the issue of deadlines”. This is error because:

(a) Appellants' attorney, Michael Mogil, actually prepared the proposed Order which was adopted by the Court on October 27, 2010, (Email from Michael Mogil to Marvin Dukes dated October 26, 2010; R. p.228) without change. It is hard to conclude that the Order itself “misleads the Plaintiff” when it was prepared by the Plaintiff/Appellant, with no objections from Defendant or changes by the Court.

(b) The Order of October 27, 2010, did not expressly grant Appellants an extension to obtain the required expert affidavit by November 14, 2010 – but rather an extension to file an Amended Complaint supported by the expert affidavit “as *required* by S.C. Code Section 15-36-100”. The *requirement* of the statute is that the expert affidavit must be *obtained* within the period of limitations. Arguably, the requirement of the statute would have been met if the amended Complaint was filed (after the period of limitations) with an expert affidavit obtained/dated before October 10, 2010 – but the expert affidavit was not timely obtained and Appellants' claims must be dismissed.

(c) There can be no “detrimental reliance”, by the Plaintiff/Appellants on the Order or any arguments that the Order misleads Plaintiff on the issue of deadlines (which is an issue of law from which (i.e. the ignorance thereof) there should not be an excuse, because the “deadline” had already lapsed on the date of the hearing (October 14, 2010) and the resulting Order dated October 26, 2010. Further, at the hearing on October 14, 2010, Respondent had no knowledge whether Appellants actually had obtained the expert affidavit prior to October 9, 2010, and was under no obligation to inquire of such matter at that time. However, if Appellants had admitted that the expert affidavit had not been

obtained at that hearing, the Court should have dismissed the Appellants' claims at that time pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-30-100(F).

(d) "Ignorance of the law" is no excuse for Appellants to be allowed an extension to obtain the expert affidavit outside the expiration of the period of limitations, contrary to the requirements of S.C. Code Section 15-36-100(F). The "issue of deadlines" is expressly set out in the statute and there is no one to blame except Appellants for failure to read and understand the statute. Appellants filed the original Complaint in June, 2010, and had from then until October 9, 2010, to comply with the statute by obtaining an expert affidavit. It is rarely that a mistake in point of law can afford ground for relief, *Colburn v. Holland*, 35 S.C. Eq. 176 (S.C. App. Eq. 1868). A court of equity will not, in the absence of fraud or undue influence, grant relief from the consequence of a mistake of law. "Relief will not be granted where the complaining party took measure to secure knowledge as to the state of the law and, being misinformed, placed himself in the prejudicial situation of which he later complains. Everyone is presumed to have knowledge of the law and must exercise reasonable care to protect his interests." 27A Am.Jur.2d *Equity* § 7 (1996); *Smothers v. U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co.*, 322 S.C. 207, 470 S.E.2d 858 (Ct.App.1996) *Id.*, 322 S.C. at 210-211, 470 S.E.2d at 860. *Estate of Holden*, 539 S.E.2d 703, 343 S.C. 267 (S.C. 2000).

(e) The Court should not, *of its own motion*, invoke equitable tolling. In *Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Services and Rehabilitation Services*, 368 S.C.108 (SC 2009) the Court stated that "the party claiming the statute of limitations should be tolled bears the burden of establishing sufficient facts to justify its use". The Court further stated that the "party who seeks to invoke equitable tolling bears the devoir of persuasion and must, therefore,

establish a compelling basis for awarding such relief”. In this case, Appellants never filed any Motion or otherwise argued in any way for the application of equitable tolling.

Further, there are no “compelling” grounds for equitable tolling, such as deceptive acts of Defendant. As stated in *Hooper*, “equitable tolling applies where the defendant is shown to have actively misled or prevented the plaintiff in some extraordinary way from discovering facts essential to the filing of a timely lawsuit”. In this case, there are no compelling reasons to apply equitable tolling, and Appellants never made any request or Motion for such equitable tolling relief, much less established any compelling reason for such relief.

(f) As stated in *Hooper*, equitable tolling is a doctrine that should be used sparingly and only when there are compelling equitable considerations. In the instant case, there are no “compelling equitable considerations”, other than the Appellants’ ignorance of the statutory requirement that the expert affidavit be obtained within the period of limitations. Our court has refused to apply equitable tolling based upon *Hooper*, even upon Motion of the Plaintiff and with arguably some equitable grounds (which are totally absent here). In *Kimmer v. Wright*, 719 S.E.2d 265 (S.C. App. 2011), the Court stated “we are mindful the supreme court cautioned the doctrine of equitable tolling was to be used sparingly. We find application of the doctrine is not justified under the circumstances of this case”. In *Kimmer*, there was a tolling agreement between the parties, to allow a workman’s compensation claim to be pursued – but the court rejected this as a ground to apply equitable tolling. In *Holmes v. Marion School District*, 093011 SCDC (US District Court, Florence Division, September 30, 2011) the court stated that “*Hooper* is inapposite to the facts here because *Hooper* involved the question of whether equitable tolling should be applied in limited circumstances such as when a defendant fails to properly list its

registered agent for service with the South Carolina Secretary of State, as required by state law. *Hooper*, 687 S.E.2d at 32-34. The South Carolina Supreme Court noted equitable tolling 'should be used sparingly'. *Id* at 33."

**IV. Rebuttal to Appellants' Arguments:**

A. An Expert Affidavit was necessary to support the Negligence and Breach of Duty Claims. (See Appellants' Brief, p. 13).

As noted in the appealed Order (Order dated February 20, 2013; R. pp.5-7), all of these claims arise out of a duty created by the attorney-client relationship, and as such required a supporting expert affidavit pursuant to S.C. Code §15-36-100. See generally *RFT Mgmt Co. v. Tinsley and Adams*, 732 S.E.2d 166 (S.C. 2012).

Appellants had the opportunity, pursuant to the lower court's Order dated October 26, 2010, which findings are not the subject of this appeal (Order dated October 26, 2010, R. pp.10-11), to "re-plead these matters so as not to require an expert affidavit", but elected not to "re-plead these matters" in their amended Third Party Complaint, and have thereby waived any such right and/or arguments regarding this issue now. Appellants cannot "appeal" an issue never raised or objected to at the lower court.

B. Regarding the "discovery rule". Appellants are bound by their agent's actual notice on October 10, 2007, and the statute of limitations expired on October 9, 2010. (See Appellants' Brief, pp 14-18)

Regardless of Third-Party Plaintiff's/Appellants' position that he did not know that he would be personally guarantying the Note, he is bound by the notice to his agent, John P. Qualey, Jr., on October 9, 2007, and by the execution of the personal guaranties by John P. Qualey, Jr., as attorney-in-fact, on October 10, 2007. *Crystal Ice Co. v. First Colonial*

*Corp.* 272 S.C. 306 (1979).

C. The "relation-back" doctrine does not apply to S.C. Code §15-36-100. (See Appellants' Brief, pp. 18-19).

The plain language of section 15-36-100(F) states that, if the required expert affidavit is not filed with the complaint, "the complaint is not subject to renewal after the expiration of the applicable period of limitation"... See generally *Ranucci v. Crain*, 723 S.E.2d 242, 244 (S.C. App. 2012).

D. Appellants' "law of the case" argument is without merit. (See Appellants' Brief, pp. 19-20)

"The law of the case" argument of Appellants is without merit in that, contrary to Appellants' argument that the Order expressly allowed the Third Party Plaintiffs until November 14, 2010, to file an Amended Complaint with the necessary affidavit, the Order states that the amended complaint must be supported by the affidavit of an expert witness "as required by S.C. Code Section 15-36-100".<sup>10</sup> This statutory "requirement" is that the Plaintiffs must *have* the requisite affidavit prior to expiration of the period of limitations – which they did not. Further, regardless of Appellants' interpretation of the "law of the case", a court does not have the power to change the plain meaning of a statute unless there are equitable exceptions. *Sloan v. Hardee*, 371 S.C. 495, 498 (2007). Certainly, a court should not, of its own motion, extend an expired period of limitations (thereby overriding the statute).

E. Equitable Tolling does not apply. (Appellants' Brief, pp 20-24)

Appellants never argued in any way for the application of the "equitable tolling"

---

<sup>10</sup> Section 15-36-100(D) refers only to the exception contained in 15-36-100(C) and not to the instant facts.

doctrine, and never filed any Motion or memorandum containing such an argument. This is a condition precedent to the application of the doctrine, *Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Services and Rehabilitation Services*, 368 S.C. 108 (SC 2009). Further, because Appellants never raised this issue at the lower court, it should not be a valid preserved exception on appeal. There are certainly no equitable grounds, as stated in this Court's Order dated August 3, 2012 (R. p. 9): "there was certainly no deception or allegations of deception by the Defendant".

Even if you assume, for the sake of argument, that Appellants are entitled to toll the period of limitations for any extension granted to Respondent to file the Answer, Appellants still would not have obtained the required expert affidavit within such extended/tolled period of limitations. Although the Complaint, dated June 18, 2010, was filed in June, 2010, it was not served until on or about July 30, 2010 (per stipulation by Appellants on page 2, #4, of "Appellants' Return to Respondent's Motion to Correct and Supplement Record on Appeal" dated January 2, 2014). Respondent/defendant would have through August 30, 2010, to file an Answer. The Answer was served on September 17, 2010, which was less than a three (3) week extension.(Answer, R. p. 110) If you add (toll) the period of limitations for three weeks (from October 9, 2010, the original limitations deadline) the "tolled" period of limitations would expire on November 1, 2010. Plaintiffs/Appellants did not "have" the required expert affidavit until November 11, 2010, and still would not meet the requirement of SC Code 15-36-100(F).

Appellants' argument ignores the requirement of S.C. Code 15-36-100 that the original Complaint filed in June, 2010, was required to have the expert affidavit attached as an integral part of the pleadings. This legal requirement is not something that Respondent

should put Appellants on notice of, or educate Appellants as to the law – ignorance of the law is no excuse.

F. An expert affidavit was required to support Appellants claims for Breach of Fiduciary Duty, because the duty arose from the "attorney-client relationship". (See Appellants' Brief pp. 24-25)

Our court in *RFT Mgmt Co. v. Tinsley and Adams*, 732 S.E.2d 166, 173 (S.C. 2012) held that all claims arising out of the “attorney-client” relationship should be "merged" into the malpractice claim and thereby are subject to S.C. Code §15-36-100 even if pled as “breach of fiduciary duty” against the attorney. Further, Appellants waived their right to amend their pleadings "so as not to require an expert affidavit" as provided in the lower court's Order dated October 26, 2010 (R. p.11) - by electing not to re-plead said complaint to allege facts supporting a duty other than one arising from an attorney-client relationship. Further, the Appellants never objected to the lower court's holding that the "breach of fiduciary duty" claims required an expert affidavit, and thereby did not preserve this as an issue on appeal.

V. Additional Sustaining Grounds.

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